## S271265

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### GUARDIANSHIP OF S.H.R.

S.H.R..

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

### JESUS RIVAS et al..

Real Parties in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE CASE NO. B308440

## OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

BETH J. JAY (BAR NO. 53820) CHRISTOPHER D. HU (BAR NO. 293052) SAN FRANCISCO OFFICE

\*DAVID S. ETTINGER (BAR NO. 93800)

BURBANK OFFICE

3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681 (818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592 dettinger@horvitzlevy.com bjay@horvitzlevy.com chu@horvitzlevy.com

### DISABILITY RIGHTS CALIFORNIA

#### INTRODUCTION

S.H.R. (Saul) appealed after the superior court denied his petition for findings that would allow him to seek "special immigrant juvenile" status from the federal government. This court granted review of the Court of Appeal's decision affirming the denial. Saul is entitled to the findings he requested.

SIJ status creates a pathway to permanent resident status for vulnerable undocumented immigrants under 21 years old. (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J); 8 C.F.R. § 204.11(c)(1) (2021).) Before that status can be granted, however, federal law requires that a *state* court have found "reunification with 1 or both of the immigrant's parents is not viable due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law" (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J)(i)) and "it would not be in the alien's best interest to be returned to the alien's or parent's previous country of nationality or country of last habitual residence" (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J)(ii)). <sup>1</sup>

Importantly, the "abuse, neglect, or abandonment" prong of the analysis is determined "under State law" (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J)(i)), not the law of the child's home country. The question for a court when evaluating evidence supporting a

This court has "use[d] the term 'undocumented immigrant' to refer to a non-United States citizen who is in the United States but who lacks the immigration status required by federal law to be lawfully present in this country and who has not been admitted on a temporary basis as a nonimmigrant." (*In re Garcia* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 440, 446, fn. 1; see Stats. 2021, ch. 296, § 1 [Legislature "remove[d] the dehumanizing term 'alien' from all California code sections"].)

SIJ-findings petition thus becomes in essence, is this an acceptable way for a child in California to be treated by their parents?

In Saul's case, the answer should have been a clear "no," based on the evidence that, in Saul's home country of El Salvador, his parents made him do dangerous and debilitating agricultural work starting when he was 10, they forced him to quit school in the ninth grade, and they did not financially support him, instead requiring Saul to support himself.

The superior court reached the contrary result by applying an inapposite rule. Relying on law from dependency cases, the court said the petition "only raises one issue," that being, "Does the poverty of the family, which resulted in Saul being required to leaving [sic] school and begin working at an early age, qualify as 'neglect' or 'abuse.'" (AA 162.) The court then concluded that "'poverty alone' is not a basis for judicial, neglect-based intrusion." (AA 168.)

The Court of Appeal (wrongly) declined to rule whether this was error, but the superior court's reliance on the "poverty alone" rule was misplaced. It comes from cases in which the state seeks to terminate parental rights and is based on the principle that social services should be provided to impoverished parents, rather than just having their children taken away and their rights terminated. But SIJ findings do not terminate any parental rights, nor do they confer authority to order social services in California, let alone in a foreign country.

It is thus no surprise other states' courts have rejected applying termination-of-parental-rights law to SIJ-findings proceedings: "because SIJ findings do not result in the termination of parental rights, the consideration of whether a parent has abandoned a child such that reunification is not viable is broader than the consideration of whether a parent's abandonment of a child warrants termination of the parent's parental rights." (Lopez v. Serbellon Portillo (Nev. 2020) 469 P.3d 181, 184–185 (Lopez).)

The superior court also erred in refusing to find it would not be in Saul's best interest to return to El Salvador. The court acknowledged "the United States offers Saul greater benefits than those available in El Salvador" (AA 170) and, because Saul had been threatened with lethal gang violence in his home country, it is "probably true" that "it would be safer for [Saul] in the United States" (AA 88). It also said "there are hardships [Saul] will face in his native country (alleged gang issues)," but the court assured that "El Salvador also produces doctors, lawyers, and other professionals who have been able to avoid these pitfalls." (AA 170.) Just because substantial—indeed, lifethreatening—obstacles might be overcome by some does not mean requiring Saul to confront those obstacles is in his best interest, or even feasible given his circumstances.

As we also explain, California's Legislature has established a favorable standard for petitions seeking SIJ findings. Section 155, subdivision (b)(1), says that, "[i]f... there is evidence to support [SIJ] findings, ... the court shall issue the order" making

the findings. One Court of Appeal interpreted the language as saying, "if substantial evidence supports the requested SIJ findings, the issuance of the findings is mandatory." (O.C., supra, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 83.) The Court of Appeal in this case disagreed, but a "substantial evidence" standard of review for the superior courts best fits the Legislature's intent.

Regardless of the standard of review that applied in the superior court, however, Saul's evidence established his right to SIJ findings. And the importance of securing those findings cannot be overstated: "the question of a possible return to one's country of origin and the implications of such a move on a child's best interests, as well as the viability of reunification with a parent in that country, are not abstract questions. They will be 'the reality of [these] children's lives' absent a successful application for SIJ status." (*Kitoko v. Salomao* (Vt. 2019) 215 A.3d 698, 708 (*Kitoko*).)

This court should reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment and direct that court to order the superior court to grant Saul the relief he is seeking.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>2</sup>

A. After years of forced manual labor starting at age 10, lack of financial support, a prematurely terminated education, and threats of gang violence, 16-year-old Saul travels to the United States from El Salvador.

In August 2018, when he was 16 years old, Saul arrived in the United States—undocumented—from El Salvador, his home country. (AA 20, 56, 58.) For over five months, he lived in a Texas shelter operated by the federal Office of Refugee Resettlement (AA 20), a shelter described as a "former Walmart that has been converted into a shelter for approximately 1,500 boys ages 10 to 17." (Romo & Rose, Administration Cuts Education And Legal Services For Unaccompanied Minors, NPR (June 5, 2019) <a href="https://www.npr.org/2019/06/05/730082911/">https://www.npr.org/2019/06/05/730082911/</a> administration-cuts-education-and-legal-services-for-unaccompanied-minors> [as of Jan. 18, 2022].)

After his release from the shelter in January 2019, Saul lived in Palmdale with Jesus Rivas, who is a cousin's husband. (AA 20, 56.) In the declaration supporting his December 2019 petition for SIJ findings, Saul said, "I feel happy and cared for under my cousin Jesus' care. He ensures that I have shelter, food, and that I continue my education." (AA 59.) Rivas has also provided Saul with healthcare. (AA 56.) Saul added, "I want to remain in [Rivas's] care and graduate from high school. My only

This statement of the case includes some facts not mentioned in the Court of Appeal's opinion. Saul filed a rehearing petition in that court regarding omissions of facts. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).)

responsibility for the first time is focusing on my education." (AA 59.)

As intimated by his "for the first time" statement, Saul's security under Rivas's protection was in contrast to his prior life in El Salvador, where he lived with his parents, a grandfather, and five siblings. (AA 56.)

Starting when he was just 10 years old and continuing until he was 15, Saul's parents sent him into the fields in the summer to work for his grandfather. (AA 56; {AA 130.) A social worker said that Saul described to her "an unsafe working environment that [is] parallel to child abuse and neglect." (AA 130.)}<sup>3</sup>

Under the hot sun for six to seven hours every day {or longer (AA 130)}, Saul said the work left him "completely

The Court of Appeal declined to consider the evaluation because, the court said, the evaluation "was not authenticated or introduced into evidence." (*Guardianship of S.H.R.* (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 563, 572, fn. 3 (*S.H.R.*).)

As explained, *post*, the evaluation should be considered. However, because that point could be contested and for the court's convenience, evidence discussed in this brief that is found in the evaluation is {in curly brackets}.

At a hearing on Saul's petition, the superior court stated it was inclined to deny the petition, but allowed Saul's counsel to submit supplemental briefing and "whatever additional documents you want." (AA 90–91.) Included with his supplemental brief as an exhibit was a social worker's six-page psychological evaluation, signed under penalty of perjury. (AA 129–135.) Among other things, the report detailed the social worker's interview with Saul, during which he related additional details about his childhood.

exhausted" (AA 56) {and dehydrated, causing him to shake and experience shortness of breath (AA 130, 132). He also suffered serious sunburns multiple times that made his skin peel and that were difficult to heal due to continued sun exposure. (AA 130.)}

{In the field, Saul used a machete to cut grass and corn. (AA 130.) There was no running water, nor was there a restroom, just a hole in the ground. (*Ibid.*) He was exposed unprotected to pesticides and chemicals, and to snakes, scorpions, chinch bugs, and bees. (*Ibid.*) Many times, insect bites caused painful welts that took three days to heal if he did not rest. (*Ibid.*)}

{Saul's parents sent their young son to work despite being aware of the safety risks. (AA 130.)}

The summertime field work allowed Saul to continue his education, but that ended in the ninth grade when his parents made him quit school and work fulltime. (AA 57.) He said, "This meant I would not be able to graduate from high school, as much as I wanted to." (AA 57; see AA 58 ["I could not go to school in El Salvador and I was forced to work"].) {Further, Saul reported "'feeling sad and depressed'" because he was "'obligated to work at an early age.'" (AA 130.)}

{According to Saul, "'Education was never big in my family for the males, work was a priority. My sisters had the opportunity to go to school and graduate from high school.'"

(AA 130.)}

Saul worked because his parents did not support him financially. Instead, they relied on him and his two older sisters

to provide necessities for himself and his family. (AA 56.) Saul said that when he worked in the fields as a young boy, "My grandfather would give me money for my labor which I would use to buy things I needed such as food, clothes, and shoes." (*Ibid.*) Later, when he was working at a car wash, he used earnings "to buy food for [his] parents, grandfather, and younger siblings." (AA 58; {see AA 130 [Saul "'had to start working'" at age 10 because he "'had to help financially to buy food for the family'"]; *ibid.* [when he was 14, Saul did construction work for a couple of months because he needed to financially assist his family]}.)

Additionally, Saul faced repeated threats of gang violence, beginning in his last year of school. (AA 57.) He described in detail those incidents, during which, he said, "gang members threatened to kill me and my family if I refused to join their gang." (*Ibid.*) He added, "I was really afraid and felt like my parents could not protect me." (AA 58.) Although Saul's father reported the first two incidents (which occurred a few weeks apart) to the police, the police did nothing, and his parents did nothing to follow up. (AA 57.) Saul said, "The police cannot protect me either." (AA 58.)

The threats continued at his car wash job after he left school. At the car wash, a gang member told him he "would disappear" if he did not pay a "gang tax." (AA 57–58.) Saul explained, "I lived in constant fear that the gang members would return to my work and kidnap or kill me. The gang members have killed many young people in my neighborhood. I know of

three different people who were killed by gang members." (AA 58; {see AA 131}.)

{Gang violence remains a real threat to Saul's safety if he were forced to return to his home country: "'If I were to return to El Salvador I would have a target on me. When you return from the Unites States, the gangs think you have money and they start harassing and threating [sic] you. If I were to try to move to a different city I run the risk of being approached by an opposing gang and being hurt.'" (AA 131; see AA 133 ["'If I return to El Salvador there is a possibility I might end up dead'"].)}

Saul told his parents he wanted to leave El Salvador "because [he] did not feel safe," but they "insisted [he] stay." (AA 58.) They said it was too dangerous to go. (*Ibid.*) Contrary to his parents' direction, Saul saved money and, without telling them, he left El Salvador in June 2018. (*Ibid.*) He did so to "protect [him]self" because he "did not want to risk losing [his] life" (*ibid.*) {and because he felt a lack of support from his parents (AA 131)}.

{A social worker has diagnosed Saul with "psychological symptoms of Mild Depression and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)," noting that he suffers from "persistent and excessive worry, disturbed sleep, and isolation/avoidance." (AA 131.) She identified the "traumatic events" underlying the PTSD as including Saul's "being force[d] to work at the age of ten, being exposed to environment elements that often caused injury, and his life being threatened by local gang members." (AA 132.)}

{The social worker also reported that Saul "spoke of feeling anger towards his parents due to their expectation for him to work at an early age and limiting his educational opportunities." (AA 132.)}

{Additionally, speaking "as a mandated reporter" (see Pen. Code, § 11165.7, subd. (a)(21)), the social worker said, "if [Saul] would have been in the United States and experience[d] some of the same traumatic events he suffered in El Salvador[,] [t]his would have been classified as child abuse resulting in the local Child Protective Service agency becoming involved to ensure the safety of [Saul]. It would be neglect on behalf of the parents as they knowingly exposed him to hazardous environmental elements and forced him into child labor to help the family financially." (AA 134.)}

{The social worker also stated in her report that Saul "is clear that his quality of life would decline if he were to return to El Salvador permanently. He believes that the lack of employment, increase in violence, lack of protection from the local authorities, would increase symptoms of Depression and possibly exasperate [sic] his symptoms of PTSD." (AA 134.)}

# B. The superior court denies Saul's petition for Special Immigrant Juvenile findings and the Court of Appeal affirms.

In September 2019, when he was 17, Saul petitioned the superior court to appoint Rivas as his guardian. (AA 11–13.) Saul's parents both consented to the guardianship, as did Rivas.

(AA 27, 70; see also AA 67–69 [consents by grandfather, grandmother, and two sisters].)

Saul filed his petition for SIJ findings in December, the day after he turned 18. (AA 52.) It claimed neglect and abandonment by his parents made reunification not viable (AA 53), and it included a declaration stating many of the facts set forth above (AA 56–60).

At a hearing, the court first said it would deny the petition for SIJ findings but then acceded to the request by Saul's attorney for additional briefing. (AA 89–90; see *ante*, fn. 3.)

During the hearing, the court said its negative view of the SIJ petition was based on Saul and his family's indigent circumstances in El Salvador: "Where they lived, their poverty breeds two things; a need for family members, including children, to help, and in those kind[s] of environments can lead to violence. But being poor or living in [an] impoverished country is not a basis to grant a SIJS [findings] petition. . . . [P]overty in and of itself is not a basis for the granting of a SIJS [findings] petition." (AA 87.)

After Saul filed his supplemental brief (AA 102), the court denied his petition for SIJ findings (AA 162, 170). It also denied the guardianship petition as moot (AA 170), even though it had earlier granted the guardianship petition and appointed Rivas as Saul's guardian (AA 92, 96, 99–101).

In its statement of decision, the court said the SIJ petition "only raises one issue for the Court to decide. Does the poverty of the family, which resulted in Saul being required to leaving [sic]

school and begin working at an early age, qualify as 'neglect' or 'abuse' under California Code of Civil Procedure, Section 155." (AA 162.) It later concluded, "'poverty alone'" is not a basis for judicial, neglect-based intrusion: '[I]ndigency, by itself, does not make one an unfit parent.'" (AA 168.)

The court also declined to find that it would not be in Saul's best interest to be returned to El Salvador. In doing so, the court acknowledged that "the United States offers Saul greater benefits than those available in El Salvador" and that "there are hardships [Saul] will face in his native country (alleged gang issues)," but the court offered the assurance that "El Salvador also produces doctors, lawyers, and other professionals who have been able to avoid these pitfalls." (AA 170.)

Saul filed both a writ petition and a notice of appeal, because the appealability of the superior court's order was unclear.<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> After recognizing appellate opinions have differed on the matter, the Court of Appeal held the order is appealable. (*S.H.R.*, *supra*, 68 Cal.App.5th at pp. 573–574.) We agree.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. A superior court should make Special Immigrant Juvenile (SIJ) findings if substantial evidence supports them.
  - A. The Legislature requires superior courts to make SIJ findings "[i]f... there is evidence to support those findings."

Federal law protects vulnerable undocumented immigrants who are under 21 years old by providing a procedure for them to attain SIJ status that creates a pathway to make them permanent United States residents. (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J), (b)(1); 8 U.S.C. § 1232(d)(6); 8 C.F.R. § 204.11(c)(1) (2021); see Bianka M. v. Superior Court (2018) 5 Cal.5th 1004, 1012–1013 (Bianka M.).) Although federal officials determine whether a child should be granted SIJ status, state courts play an indispensable role in the process.

Before the federal government can approve SIJ status, a state court must first, as relevant here, "place[] [the child] under the custody of . . . an individual" appointed by the court (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J)(i)) and make two findings: (1) "reunification with 1 or both of the [child's] parents is not viable due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law" (*ibid.*), and (2) "it would not be in the [child's] best interest to be returned to the [child's] or parent's previous country of nationality or country of last habitual residence" (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J)(ii)). (See *Bianka M.*, *supra*, 5 Cal.5th at p. 1013.)

California's Legislature acted to ensure the state's courts meet their responsibilities to SIJ eligible children. Section 155, subdivision (a)(1), confirms that superior courts have jurisdiction to make the "judicial determinations" and the "factual findings necessary to enable a child to petition the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services for classification as a special immigrant juvenile." (See *Bianka M.*, *supra*, 5 Cal.5th at p. 1013.)

The Legislature has also directed that, in ruling on a petition for SIJ findings, "[i]f...there is evidence to support those findings, which may consist solely of, but is not limited to, a declaration by the child who is the subject of the petition, the court shall issue the order" making the findings. (§ 155, subd. (b)(1), emphasis added.) The Court of Appeal opinion in this case created a conflict regarding how to interpret that statutory language.

The Fourth District, Division Three paraphrased the statute: "if substantial evidence supports the requested SIJ findings, the issuance of the findings is mandatory." (O.C., supra, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 83.)

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