#### Supreme Court Case No. S271265

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA En Banc

Guardianship of S.H.R.

# S.H.R. Petitioner and Appellant,

vs.

#### JESUS RIVAS et al. Real Parties in Interest.

After A Decision By The California Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B308440

Appeal From The Los Angeles County Superior Court Honorable Scott J. Nord, Judge Pro Tempore Case No. 19AVPB00310

#### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

\*Jeffrey E. Raskin (State Bar No. 223608)
Email: jraskin@gmsr.com
Stefan C. Love (State Bar No. 329312)
Email: slove@gmsr.com
5900 Wilshire Boulevard, 12th Floor

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

This brief is structured to track the three issues identified in this Court's order appointing pro bono counsel, although those issues do not precisely track the opening brief's statement of the issues presented.

- I. A Petitioner Seeking SIJ Findings Must Establish The Required Facts By A Preponderance Of The Evidence.
  - A. Overview of the SIJ process.

The federal Immigration and Nationality Act (8 U.S.C. § 1101 et seq.) authorizes the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) to grant Special Immigrant Juvenile (SIJ) status to certain undocumented children under state judicial supervision because of parental abuse, neglect, or abandonment. (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J).) SIJ status eases access to a visa, grants relief from deportation in some cases, and provides a path to long-term permanent residency. (8 U.S.C. §§ 1153(b)(4), 1201(a)(1)(A), 1227(c), 1255(a), (h).)

An immigrant receives federal SIJ status if: (1) the immigrant is under 21 years old and unmarried; (2) the immigrant is dependent on a juvenile court or under the custody of a court-appointed guardian; (3) the immigrant's "reunification with 1 or both of the immigrant's parents is not viable due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law"; (4) it would not be in the immigrant's best interest to be returned to his or her home country; and (5) "the Secretary of

Homeland Security consents" to the SIJ status. (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J); 8 C.F.R. § 204.11(c).)

State courts' role. Although SIJ status is a decision made by a federal agency and reviewed by federal courts, state courts play a critical, threshold role in attaining the federal status. Federal law charges state courts with making some of the underlying determinations, including custody or guardianship status and whether reunification with the child's parents is not viable due to past mistreatment under state law. (8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J)(i), (ii); 8 C.F.R. § 204.11(d)(2); Petition for Amerasian, Widow(er), or Special Immigrant, USCIS Form I-360 <a href="https://www.uscis.gov/sites/default/files/document/forms/i-360.pdf">https://www.uscis.gov/sites/default/files/document/forms/i-360.pdf</a> [as of Mar. 5, 2022], pp. 8-9.)

Federal agency use of state court order. USCIS determines whether an immigrant has met the requirements for SIJ classification by reviewing the juvenile court order and the supporting evidence. (U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, USCIS Policy Manual (2021), vol. 6, pt. J <a href="https://www.uscis.gov/policy-manual/volume-6-part-j">https://www.uscis.gov/policy-manual/volume-6-part-j</a> [as of Mar. 5, 2022] (USCIS Policy Manual), ch. 2 ["Eligibility Requirements"].) "To be eligible for SIJ classification, the petitioner must submit a juvenile court order(s) with the following determinations and provide evidence that there is a reasonable factual basis for each of the determinations," including that the juvenile court "[d]eclares, under the state child welfare law, that the petitioner cannot reunify with one or both of the petitioner's parents due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or

a similar basis under state law . . . ." (*Ibid*.) "USCIS generally defers to the court" and "does not go behind the juvenile court order to reweigh evidence and make independent determinations about the best interest of the juvenile and abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis under state law." (*Ibid*.)

However, "USCIS looks at the documents submitted in order to ascertain the role and actions of the [state] court . . . . " (USCIS Policy Manual, ch. 3 ["Documentation and Evidence"].) Juvenile court orders "must provide the required judicial determinations regarding dependency or custody, parental reunification, and best interests" along with "the factual basis for the court's determinations (for example, the judicial findings of fact) . . . . " (*Ibid.*, original parenthetical.) "Where the factual basis for the court's determinations demonstrates that the juvenile order was sought to protect the child and the record shows the juvenile court actually provided relief from abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis under state law, USCIS generally consents to the grant of SIJ classification." (*Ibid.*) When the court order does not include the "facts that establish a factual basis for all of the required determinations, USCIS may request evidence of the factual basis for the court's determinations" (*ibid*.) or deny the petition for SIJ status outright (Reyes v. Cissna (4th Cir. 2018) 737 Fed. Appx. 140, 145 (Reyes) [affirming USCIS's denial of SIJ status and refusal to consider additional affidavits when state court's SIJ findings lacked sufficient factual basis]).

Code of Civil Procedure section 155. The California Legislature enacted Code of Civil Procedure section 155 to empower superior courts to make the judicial findings necessary for an immigrant to petition USCIS for SIJ status. This includes what the statute refers to as the "factual findings . . . [t]hat reunification of the child with one or both of the child's parents was determined not be viable because of abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis pursuant to California law." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subds. (a)(2), (b)(1)(B), italics added.)



Code of Civil Procedure section 155 requires courts to make actual "factual findings" on the SIJ requirements. It does so because the Legislature's intent in enacting section 155 was to ensure that immigrant children in California have access to the type of court order that would help them attain SIJ status from the federal government. Anything less would be of no real-world value. Because the statute does not identify a burden of proof to obtain those factual findings, the default preponderance of the evidence standard applies: The child must show that it is more likely true than not that reunification with the child's parents is unviable due to past abuse, neglect, or abandonment.

The opening brief, however, urges that section 155 be interpreted to permit superior courts only to review a child's evidence under the substantial evidence standard: that is, to decide merely that the evidence is such that a hypothetical "reasonable trier of fact" *could* make the finding that reunification is not viable. (OBM § I; *S.H.R.*, *supra*, 68

Cal.App.5th at p. 575.) For the multitude of reasons discussed below, the Court should reject that interpretation.

# B. The statutory text requires actual "factual findings."

The opening brief's statutory interpretation turns entirely on a single clause of section 155—"and there is evidence to support those findings"—read out of context from the rest of the statute. Properly interpreted, section 155 requires the court to actually make factual findings. It is not enough for the superior court simply to decide, applying a substantial evidence standard, that the evidence *could* support a ruling in favor of the petitioner.

First, even the opening brief does not contend that the cited clause should be interpreted literally. The statute provides that "[i]f an order is requested from the superior court making the necessary findings regarding special immigrant juvenile status pursuant to Section 1101(a)(27)(J) of Title 8 of the United States Code, and there is evidence to support those findings, which may consist solely of, but is not limited to, a declaration by the child who is the subject of the petition, the court shall issue the order, which shall include all of the following findings . . . ." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1), italics added.) The opening brief cannot bring itself to argue that this should be taken literally to mean that "any evidence" compels the court to make affirmative findings of fact. (OBM 31.) Rather, it reads into the statute a requirement that the superior court first determine that the child's evidence is "reasonable, credible, and of solid value," such

that a reasonable trier of fact could agree with the petitioner. (OBM 27, 31.)

Second, the opening brief's gloss on the statutory text impermissibly conflicts with other language in the statute. Courts do not "consider the statutory language in isolation; rather, we look to the entire substance of the statutes in order to determine their scope and purposes." (Skidgel v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (2021) 12 Cal.5th 1, 14.) Courts "construe the words in question in context" and "harmonize the various parts" of a statute. (*Ibid.*) Here, the remainder of section 155's text is incompatible with Saul's theory that the "role of the superior court' in evaluating a SIJ petition under section 155 is 'to determine . . . whether there is evidence that *could* support a ruling in favor of the petitioner"—rather than to actually decide the factual issues. (S.H.R., supra, 68 Cal.App.5th at pp. 575-576, original italics; see also In re S.A. (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1128, 1140 [substantial evidence standard forecloses weighing of evidence and drawing adverse inferences].) Instead, section 155 repeatedly makes clear that the court must engage in actual factfinding on the existence of the SIJ factual issues. For instance:

• Section 155 begins by creating superior court jurisdiction "to *make the factual findings* necessary to enable a child to petition the" USCIS for SIJ status. (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (a)(1).) "To make the factual findings" is not the same as merely to determine that a reasonable jurist *could* make the findings by ignoring adverse evidence and inferences.

- The statute then explains what "factual findings" must be made: those "set forth in paragraph (1) of subdivision (b)." In turn, paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) requires "[t]hat reunification was determined not to be viable." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subds. (a)(2), (b)(1)(B), italics added.) A determination that reunification is not viable requires stronger proof than a determination merely that a reasonable factfinder could think so.
- Section 155 states that as part of finding that reunification is not viable, the "court shall indicate the date on which reunification *was determined* not to be viable." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1)(B), italics added.) This is meaningless and impossible if the court is merely to determine that some hypothetical jurist could have found reunification not to be viable.
- The statute authorizes the court to "make additional findings" only if requested by a party. (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(2).) By addressing the *making* of additional findings, the statute necessarily means that the determination of nonviability is an actual factual finding—not a mere determination that a hypothetical jurist could conclude something.

As the Court of Appeal put it, section 155 clearly envisions the superior court's "factfinding" role, and a mere substantial evidence determination "is not a factual finding at all." (*S.H.R.*, *supra*, 68 Cal.App.5th at pp. 575-576.)

The opening brief insists—citing nothing—that a determination that "a child's evidence is substantial is a factual finding" because it requires the superior court to decide that the evidence is "reasonable in nature, credible, and of solid value." (OBM 31.) But those are *legal* determinations about the *quality* of the evidence—not factual findings. (See, e.g., Smith v. Selma Community Hospital (2010) 188 Cal. App. 4th 1, 24, fn. 20 ["Whether substantial evidence exists to support the administrative decision is a *question of law*," italics added]; accord Angelier v. State Board of Pharmacy (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 592, 598, fn. 5.) For instance, whether evidence is "credible" on substantial evidence review is limited to the legal issue of whether the evidence favoring one side is so "inherently improbable" that there is a "physical impossibility that [the evidence is true." (Bloxham v. Saldinger (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 729, 750.) That is categorically different from a witness's credibility, which may be considered only when a court engages in actual factfinding, not when it reviews for substantial evidence. (In re S.A., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1140.)

Besides, section 155 describes the "factual findings" that must "be made." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subds. (a)(2), (b)(1)(B) [that reunification is not viable].) It is no answer to say that a court makes some finding in determining that "a child's evidence is substantial." That is still not the required factual finding.

Third, because section 155 requires actual factual findings without stating a burden of proof, Evidence Code section 115 supplies the default burden: proof by a preponderance of the

evidence. As directed by this statute, "Except as otherwise provided by law, the burden of proof requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence." (Evid. Code, § 115; see also Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 861 ["As a general rule, the 'party desiring relief' bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence"].)

The Legislature is presumed to know this. (See City of Morgan Hill v. Bushey (2018) 5 Cal.5th 1068, 1083 ["we presume that the Legislature has knowledge of all prior laws and enacts and amends statutes in light of those laws"], quoting People v. Pieters (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 907 (conc. & dis. opn. of Broussard, A.J.).) When it enacted a statute requiring the court to make SIJ findings if "there is evidence to support those findings," the Legislature presumably meant when the petitioner has met the default evidentiary burden—not a "substantial evidence" standard that is mentioned nowhere in the statute and is not a factfinding standard at all.

Fourth, the Legislature knows how to use the substantial evidence standard when it intends to. (See footnotes 1 and 2, post [listing statutes that explicitly employ the "substantial evidence" standard].) It did not mention this standard in section 155.

Fifth, the opening brief repeatedly relies on a statement in O.C. v. Superior Court (2019) 44 Cal.App.5th 76, 83 (O.C.) that has no persuasive value. In pure dicta, O.C. stated that "if substantial evidence supports the requested SIJ findings, the issuance of the findings is mandatory." (Ibid.; see S.H.R., supra,

68 Cal.App.5th at p. 575 [disclaiming O.C.'s statement as dicta].) The only issues in O.C. were the superior court's failure "to cite California statutory or case law" and to check off a box on the form order—core requirements under both section 155 and USCIS's process. (O.C., supra, 44 Cal.App.5th at pp. 80-82.) The nature and quality of the evidence supporting the factual findings was not remotely at issue. O.C. had no occasion to consider or decide the issue presented here, which is why it provided no analysis for the stray sentence on which the opening brief relies.

C. The Legislature's intent should be understood in light of the purpose of providing SIJ findings that are adequate to support SIJ status under federal law.

To understand section 155's meaning, the Court should look to the federal requirements for a qualifying state court order. After all, meeting the federal standard was *expressly* the statute's purpose. (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (a)(1).) Other than providing deserving children with documentation needed to apply for SIJ status through the federal process, a superior court's section 155 order has no value whatsoever. (See § I.A., *ante.*) A court's conclusion merely that substantial evidence exists would fall far short of the federal standard, making its order a worthless scrap of paper. That cannot be what the Legislature intended.

The Court's "fundamental task here is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose." (*People v. Gonzalez* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1138, 1141.) Section 155 begins by

stating its purpose: To allow California courts "to make the factual findings necessary to enable a child to petition the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services for classification as a special immigrant juvenile pursuant to Section 1101(a)(27)(J) of Title 8 of the United States Code." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (a)(1).) The legislative history announces that same purpose. (Legis. Counsel's Dig., Sen. Bill No. 873, Stats. 2014, Ch. 685 (2013-2014 Reg. Sess.) Summary Dig., p. 1.)

If section 155 is to achieve that sole purpose, the superior court must do more than determine that substantial evidence exists under which a hypothetical jurist *could* reasonably find that reunification is not viable due to neglect, abandonment, or abuse. Federal law clearly requires more than that.

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